STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Provident had a thriving property management business in the City of Treasure Island (R. 3257-60, 3262-63, 3289-90). Misconstruing its zoning statutes, Treasure Island brought an action against Provident seeking an injunction directed against Provident's rental operations. During the injunction hearing, Provident warned Treasure Island and the trial court that to grant the injunction would be to sound the death knell over Provident's business (R. 2477-78). Unfortunately, the trial court rejected Provident's arguments and entered the injunction.

At the end of the injunction hearing, Provident asked the trial court to require an injunction bond (R. 2517-18). Citing Rule 1.61 O(b), Fla. R. Civ. P., the court dispensed with the bond. Id. Rule 1.610(b) gives the trial court the discretion to dispense with the bond in cases brought by government entities.'

1

¹ Rule 1.61 O(b) provides: "No temporary injunction shall be entered unless a bond is given by the movant in an amount the court deems proper, conditioned for the payment of costs and damages sustained by the adverse party if the adverse party is wrongfully enjoined. When any injunction is issued on the pleading of a

The trial court decided not to require a bond because Treasure Island was solvent and would be able to cover Provident's damages in the event the injunction were reversed. Explained the trial court: "If they [Provident] are damaged, they can sue them [Treasure Island]" (R. 2517-18). Treasure Island also recognized its liability for injunction damages. In related Federal litigation, its counsel conceded: "If the state court determines that this order is improvidently entered at any point in time, then there are going to be some damages against the City" (R. 2639).

Provident appealed and the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the injunction, finding it to be wrongful, <u>Belair v. Citv of Treasure Island</u>, 611 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u>, 624 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 1993). However, the reversal came too late to save Provident's business. True to its earlier prediction, Provident's business was destroyed (R. 3214-19).

Provident then brought the instant suit for damages against Treasure Island, relying on well-settled law that the victim of a wrongful injunction has the right to recover its damages from the party who sought the injunction. National Surety Comnany v. Willys-Overland, Inc., 103 Fla. 738, 138 So. 24 (1931); Lake Worth Broadcasting Corp. v. Hispanic Broadcasting, Inc., 495 So. 2d 1234, 1234 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Treasure Island defended by citing <u>Parker Tampa Two, Inc. v. Somerset</u> <u>Development Corporation</u>, 544 So. **2d** 1018 (Fla. 1989). In <u>Parker Tampa Two</u>, this Court ruled that a private party seeking to recover for wrongful injunction is limited to damages in the amount of the bond. Treasure Island argued that,

municipality or the state or any officer, agency, or political subdivision thereof, the court may require or dispense with the bond, with or without surety, and conditioned in the same manner, having due regard for the public interest. No bond shall be required for issuance of a temporary injunction issued solely to prevent physical injury or abuse of a natural person."

because no bond had been set, the bond amount should be considered "zero" and, consequently, Provident should have no right to recover its wrongful injunction damages from the City. The trial court rejected this argument and, after a week-long trial, awarded Provident its damages (R. 3214-190).

Relying on <u>Parker Tampa Two</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed, ruling that Provident's damage action was barred. According to the court, <u>Parker Tampa Two</u> applies when a court has exercised its discretion under Rule 1.610(b) to relieve the municipality of its obligation to post a bond — even though the trial court had contemporaneously affirmed its intention that Treasure Island remain liable if the injunction were later reversed.

Provident's notice of intent to invoke discretionary review followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision to deny Provident a remedy for the wrongful destruction of its business by Treasure Island expressly and directly conflicts with precedent of this Court and other Florida District Courts of Appeal. Florida law has long held that a party who suffers damages as a result of a wrongfully entered injunction has the right to recover damages from the party seeking the injunction. The opinion below conflicts with this precedent by denying Provident its damages. Moreover, the decision below conflicts with recent cases in other district courts of appeal construing Parker Tampa Two and confirming that a low or nominal bond does not limit a wrongfully enjoined party's right to recover damages unless the trial court has made a reasoned and explicit determination to so limit the enjoined party's damages. Here, the trial court made no such finding. The trial court's decision to excuse the bond under Rule 1.610(b) was made with precisely the opposite understanding — the trial court (and Treasure Island for that matter) assumed that Provident would be made whole in the event the injunction proved wrongful.

It is important that this Court resolve this conflict between the second district's approach and the decisions of other district courts of appeal confirming the right to recover damages. The decision below places trial courts in an immediate and irreconcilable quandary. If the trial court grants a municipality the protection contemplated by Rule 1.61 O(b) and permits an injunction to be entered without a bond, Florida citizens, like Provident, will find themselves completely without remedy when damaged by a hasty or ill-considered injunction action brought by a government entity. The alternative is a disaster for Florida government entities. If the trial court protects the citizen's remedy by requiring the government entity to post a bond, the government entity loses the very benefit conferred by the drafters of Rule 1.610(b). The inevitable result is that injunctions will be harder to obtain by the government or, at the very least, such injunctions will be more time consuming and expensive. Indeed, any county or municipality that regularly seeks injunctive relief may find itself with substantial funds tied up to secure its bond obligations, or worse, may be unable to post a bond at all, thus paralyzing its ability to act in the protection of the public interest.

This dilemma created by the opinion below is entirely unnecessary and can be eliminated simply by reversing, resolving the conflict created by the opinion and clarifying the scope of <u>Parker Tampa Two</u>, thereby restoring harmony in the law relating to wrongful injunction damages.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OPINION BELOW CREATES AN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT

The baseless injunction Treasure Island sought and obtained against

Provident destroyed Provident's business. The Second District Court of Appeal's

decision to deny Provident the damages it suffered as a result of the loss of its

business expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other courts. According
to cases from this Court and other district courts of appeal, any party that has been

enjoined wrongfully has the right to recover all damages from the party seeking the injunction. National Surety, 138 So. 24; Lake Worth Broadcasting, 495 So. 2d 1234.

The opinion justified its departure from this precedent by misapplying this Court's decision in Parker Tampa Two. In Parker Tampa Two, this Court ruled that, in a case brought by a private party, the defendant's recovery of wrongful injunction damages was limited to the amount of the injunction bond. The opinion below treated the trial court's decision not to require Treasure Island to post an injunction bond based on Rule 1.61 O(b) as the equivalent of a decision that the bond was set at "zero," thus, immunizing Treasure Island from damages. This decision is a misinterpretation of Parker Tampa Two and is in direct and express conflict with decisions from other district courts of appeal construing Parker Tampa Two and also is in conflict with an earlier decision of this Court.

To understand the nature of this conflict, it is first necessary to understand the reasoning behind Parker Tampa Two. By requiring the parties to litigate over the amount of the injunction bond at the outset of the litigation and then limiting damages to the amount of the bond so litigated, the plaintiff is given notice of its potential liability from the beginning of the action. Thus, the plaintiff can make an intelligent decision as to whether the risk of liability under the bond is worth the benefits of the injunction. The defendant's right of recovery is preserved but the parties are placed in a position to make intelligent decisions about the costs and benefits of continuing the litigation.

There is no hint in <u>Parker Tampa Two</u>, or in any of the cases upon which it relies, that limiting recovery to the amount of the bond was designed to lower artificially the plaintiff's ultimate responsibility below the amount of the defendant's potential damages. To the contrary, <u>Parker Tampa Two</u> and its progeny make clear that the amount of the bond must be set at a level consistent with the

amount of damages the defendant is likely to suffer. The point of <u>Parker Tampa</u>

<u>Two</u> was not to lessen the plaintiff's damage obligations or to limit artificially the defendant's right to be made whole, but to set these obligations in advance, giving the plaintiff fair notice about what its obligations were.

Thus, in limiting damages to the bond amount, Parker Tampa Two contemplates a situation where a bond of some amount has been posted and the parties have had an opportunity reasonably to litigate the amount of the bond before the trial court.2 This important prerequisite to the enforcement of the bond limitation has been confirmed by decisions of the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal. Seascape, Ltd. v. Maximum Marketing Exposure. Inc., 568 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Ross v. Champion Computer Corp., 582 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). In both Ross and Seascape, the courts declined to limit recovery to the amount of the bond because there had been no reasoned attempt by the trial court to set a bond approximating the defendants' potential damages. In Ross, the trial court granted an injunction without a bond based on a contract between the parties that purported to waive the obligation to post a bond. The Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected the plaintiff's argument that the defendant had no right to recover injunction damages because no bond had been posted. Instead, the court remanded to permit the trial court to make a reasoned determination concerning the amount of the bond. Similarly, in Seascape, the court set a nominal bond. The defendant's recovery was not limited to the amount of the bond because the

² In <u>Parker Tampa Two</u> the party seeking the injunction was a private party. Thus, plaintiff was absolutely required to post a bond in some amount to obtain the injunction. There is no provision in the rules that permits trial courts to dispense with the bond when sought by private parties (except in the domestic violence context).

trial court had never made a reasoned determination that the bond approximated defendant's potential damages.³

This Court reached a similar conclusion in the analogous case of City of St. Petersburg v. Wall, 475 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 1985). In Wall, St. Petersburg sought to condemn respondents' land and filed a lis pendens against the property. The City lost and took an appeal. Because the City was entitled to an automatic stay, the lis pendens remained in effect upon appeal. The respondents moved the trial court to require the City to post a bond, but this motion was denied "without prejudice to respondents seeking recovery of damages and costs resulting from any stay pending appeal . . ." When the City's appeal was later rejected, the City argued that, absent a bond, respondents had no right of recovery. This Court disagreed, approving the following quote from the District Court's opinion that could just as easily apply in this case:

Here the City was on notice that we recognized its potential liability even though we excused it from the expense of posting a bond. There is little reason to request a solvent municipality to post a bond when its potential liability for obtaining a stay is made a matter of record.

Wall, 475 So. 2d at 663.

These cases demonstrate that a trial court's decision to waive a bond because the plaintiff is a municipality is not the equivalent of a reasoned determi-

³ Treasure Island's simplistic response has been that Provident should have appealed the decision not to post a bond. This argument is circular in that it assumes that a decision to dispense with a bond under Rule 1.610(b) is the same as a reasoned decision setting the amount of a bond. The trial court dispensed with the bond but <u>affirmed</u> Treasure Island's liability if the injunction later proved wrongful. The court in <u>Wall</u> did much the same when it denied the motion to require a bond but contemporaneously affirmed that the City would ultimately be liable if it lost the appeal. In <u>Wall</u>, the absence of the bond <u>did not</u> limit recovery. Thus, there was nothing for Provident to appeal, unless one presumes, like the court below, that the trial judge could give effect to Rule 1.610(b) only by depriving Provident of its well-settled right to damages.

nation of what the defendant's damage limitation should be. Rule 1. 61 O(b) was designed to make it easier and less expensive for a public body to obtain an injunction. There is no authority for the proposition that it was designed to immunize a public body from the consequences of seeking and obtaining a wrongful injunction. Clearly, the trial court did not intend to confer such an immunity in this case. Although excusing Treasure Island from posting a bond, the trial court confirmed its intent that Treasure Island remain liable for wrongful injunction damages. According to the court: "If they [Provident] are damaged, they can sue them [Treasure Island]."

The Second District Court of Appeal's decision to enforce the bond limitation of Parker Tampa Two in the absence of any intent to provide immunity for damages, and in the absence of any reasoned determination to set a bond in the amount of Provident's potential damages, is in direct and express conflict with cases like National Surety and Lake Worth which confirm the right to recover wrongful injunction damages. It also conflicts with cases like Ross, Seascape, and Wall which demonstrate that a decision not to require a bond under Rule 1. 61 O(b) should be distinguished from a decision to set the amount of a bond after a full and fair opportunity to litigate the amount of defendant's damages. This Court should accept jurisdiction and resolve this conflict.

⁴ The Second District's decision also conflicts with the majority view in other states on this issue. The more recent decisions have ruled that a trial court's decision to dispense with a bond because of the City's solvency does not deprive the defendant of the right to seek wrongful injunction damages. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 472 P. 2d 109 (Ariz. Civ. App. 1970); <u>Cone v. City of Lubbock</u>, 431 S.W. 2d 639 (Tex. Civ. App. 1968). <u>See Monroe Div. Litton Bus. Sys., Inc. v. De Bari, 562 F.2d 30, 32 (10th Cir. 1977) (the protection of Rule 65 is not eliminated "when the court relies on the financial strength of the party seeking the injunction in place of a security bond.") <u>Contra, Doyle v. City of Sandpoint</u>, 112 P. 204 (Idaho 1910).</u>

II. IT IS IMPORTANT THAT THE CONFLICT BE RESOLVED

The decision of the court below creates a terrible and entirely unnecessary dilemma for trial courts faced with actions for injunctions brought by government bodies. Rule 1.610(b) was designed to make it easier for municipalities to obtain an injunction by relieving government bodies of the obligation to post a bond. Rule 1.610(b) is simply a recognition that government bodies are generally solvent and that a bond is superfluous. Yet, if the trial court follows Rule 1.610(b) and dispenses with the bond, it risks placing the defendant in a position where, contrary to long-settled precedent, the defendant has no right to be made whole if the injunction proves wrongful. Leaving the defendant without a remedy is completely contrary to the bedrock principle of Florida jurisprudence that there is a remedy for every wrong. Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const.

Even the decision below recognizes this problem. The Court specifically cautions trial courts to be very careful in dispensing with a bond, even when it is sought by a government entity. According to the court:

A trial court that automatically dispenses with the bond when the plaintiff is a governmental agency risks creating losses for a defendant that will not be recoverable if the injunction is ultimately reversed. Thus, this discretionary decision should be made with care.

Opinion at 6 n. 3.

The Opinion's cautionary instruction highlights what may be the biggest problem caused by the opinion below. No court is likely to enter an injunction against a party knowing that the enjoined party will be without a remedy in the event the injunction proves wrongful, Certainly, the trial court in this case had no such intent. In short, Rule 1.61 O(b) has been rendered useless.

Thus, the practical effect of the Second District's order is that trial courts will give even greater scrutiny to applications for injunction sought by government entities. Thus, as discussed in the amicus brief submitted by the Florida Association of County Attorneys supporting the exercise of this Court's jurisdiction, the

effect of the decision below will be to make it more difficult for government entities to obtain injunctions. Injunctions that would otherwise be entered on behalf of government entities may well be denied. If the court enters the injunction, it is likely to require the government entity to post a bond. Every case in which such an entity seeks an injunction will be less likely to succeed, and, at the very least, will be more time-consuming and expensive. Indeed, any county or municipality that seeks injunctive relief may find itself with substantial funds tied up in order to secure its bond obligations, or worse, may be unable to post a bond and be forced to forego an injunction otherwise in the public interest.

This quandary between leaving the defendant remedy-less or offering the government the protections afforded by Rule 1.610(b) is entirely unnecessary. By accepting jurisdiction in this case, this Court will have the opportunity to explain the proper application of Parker Tampa Two and to confirm that the bond limitation applies only when there has been a reasoned determination that the bond has been set to approximate the defendant's damages. The District Court's opinion to the contrary misconstrues Parker Tampa Two, turns Rule 1.61 O(b) on its head, and creates conflict in the law relating to wrongful injunctions. This Court should accept jurisdiction and take the opportunity to resolve the dissonance created by the opinion below, thus harmonizing the defendant's right to an effective remedy with the government's right to protect its citizens without bearing the burdens of an unnecessary bond.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should accept jurisdiction over this case and resolve the conflict between the opinion below and cases confirming that victims of a wrongful injunction should be made whole.