IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAURENCE N. **BELAIR** and PROVIDENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

Petitioners,

vs. APPEAL NO.: 89,093 and 89,094

CITY OF TREASURE ISLAND, a Florida municipal corporation,

Respondent.

FILED
SIÐ J. WHITE

NOV 20 1996

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BUTLER, BURNETTE & PAPPAS

WBen

W. DOUGLAS BERRY, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 24385 1
WILLIAM R. LEWIS, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 879827
Bayport Plaza - Suite 1100
6200 Courtney Campbell Causeway Tampa, Florida 33607-1458
813/281-1900

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
II.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
III.	ARGUMENT
	A. PETITIONERS HAVE FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE EXISTENCE OF A CONFLICT BETWEEN THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION AND THE DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OR OF THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW AND, AS SUCH, THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION
IV.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The City of TREASURE ISLAND (hereinafter referred to as "TREASURE ISLAND") disagrees with the statement of the facts and case as stated in Provident Management Corporation's (hereinafter referred to as "PROVIDENT") and Laurence N. Belair's (hereinafter referred to as "BELAIR") Jurisdiction Briefs.

The underlying facts and history of this case are summarized in the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Belair v. City of Treasure Island*, 611 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). Suffice is to say that TREASURE ISLAND filed a complaint for injunctive relief to enforce a duly enacted ordinance. The injunction was entered by the trial court and no bond was entered despite an, at best, ambiguous discussion by PROVIDENT'S counsel at the hearing at the Motion for Temporary Injunction. (R. at. p. 1487-1488)(Belair's counsel made no such statement). Contrary to BELAIR and PROVIDENT's contentions, the trial court never stated nor found that the decision to dispense with a bond was "based on the fact that Treasure Island was solvent and would be able to cover the parties damages in the event the injunction was reversed." (PROVIDENT and BELAIR's Jurisdiction Brief at page 2). Quite the contrary, the trial court merely found that PROVIDENT and BELAIR could <u>sue</u> if they were damaged, a point specifically recognized by the Second District Court of Appeal in its opinion wherein the Court held that:

In the absence of a bond, as in this case, or when a party seeks to recover damages beyond the amount of the bond, the party must allege and prove some other cause of action. Without attempting to limit the available theories, we note malicious prosecution is one option.

While the appeal of the temporary injunction was pending, and again before the final hearing on the permanent injunction, PROVIDENT and **BELAIR** twice sought an order of the

trial court dissolving, staying or modifying the temporary injunction. (R. at p. 662-774, 769-770, 1008-1081 and 1084-1085). In neither instance did PROVIDENT, or BELAIR, ask the court to require an injunction bond. Additionally, neither PROVIDENT or BELAIR raised the lack of an injunction bond as an issue on appeal of the non-final order entering the temporary injunction or the order entering the permanent injunction.

The trial court entered judgment in favor of PROVIDENT in the amount of \$1,768,242.50 and in favor of BELAIR in the amount of \$48,843.00. The appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal followed. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed, relying on the sound and unchallenged authority of *Parker Tampa Two v. Somerset Development Corporation*, 544 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1989).

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

PROVIDENT and BELAIR fail to point out the alleged conflict between or among decisions of the District Courts of Appeal or the Florida Supreme Court and the decision under review. They cannot so demonstrate because the Second District Court of Appeal faithfully followed this Court's decision in *Parker Tampa Two v. Somerset Development Corporation*, 544

So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1989). PROVIDENT and BELAIR's briefs address perceived issues of "great public importance," However, despite a specific request to that court and extensive briefs on the issues, the Second District Court of Appeal refused to certify any of the issues involved herein as one of "great public importance."

Florida courts have consistently followed *Parker Tampa Two* to limit damages for wrongfully obtaining an injunction to the amount of the injunction bond. *Tabsch v. Nojaim, 548*So. 2d 851, 853 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); *Shea v. Central Diagnostic Services, Inc., 552 So.* 2d

344, 346 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Multicredit, Inc. v. Ecoban Capital Ltd., 555 So. 2d 1249, 1250 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); Longshore Lakes Joint Venture v. Mundy, 616 So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

Notwithstanding their assertions of uniqueness requiring "certification" by the District Court of Appeal below, Petitioners have failed to demonstrate that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with any decision of any court in the State of Florida, Therefore, Petitioners have failed to show any conceivable basis upon which this Court's jurisdiction can be invoked.

III. ARGUMENT

A. PETITIONERS HAVE FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE EXISTENCE OF A CONFLICT BETWEEN THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION AND THE DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OR OF THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW AND, AS SUCH, THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION

PROVIDENT and BELAIR fail to point out the alleged conflict between or among decisions of the District Courts of Appeal or the Florida Supreme Court and the decision under review, They cannot so demonstrate because the Second District Court of Appeal faithfully followed this Court's decision in *Parker Tampa Two v. Somerset Development Corporation, 544*So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1989). Failing to show a basis for jurisdiction, PROVIDENT and BELAIR instead are now solicitous of TREASURE ISLAND'S interests in that the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion might have some detrimental effect on local governments obtaining an injunction. While their concern is appreciated, it should have been demonstrated before TREASURE ISLAND expended in excess of \$100,000.00 in defending this action for damages. PROVIDENT and BELAIR would have this Court believe that they want to "fix" that perceived

problem by merely reversing the Second District Court's opinion and entering a judgment of approximately \$2,000,000 against the taxpayers of TREASURE ISLAND. Nowhere in the jurisdiction briefs filed by PROVIDENT or BELAIR do they address the issue of this Court's jurisdiction to entertain this appeal, PROVIDENT and BELAIR's briefs address perceived issues of "great public importance." However, despite a specific request and extensive briefs on the issues, the Second District Court of Appeal refused to certify any of the issues involved herein as one of "great public importance."

In addition, the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion does not depart from any precedent of any court in the State of Florida, or for that matter -- and, in direct conflict with the statements contained in PROVIDENT and **BELAIR's** Jurisdiction briefs at footnote 4 -- the majority of jurisdictions in the United States. The Second District Court of Appeal followed this Court's pronouncement in **Parker Tampa Two v. Somerset Development Corporation, 544 So.2d** 1018 (Fla. 1989), and Petitioners have failed to show how the opinion conflicts with any decision of any court in the State of Florida.'

In fact, in a futile effort to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court, PROVIDENT and BELAIR, in their briefs filed in the Second District Court of Appeal in support of a request for certification of the question as one of "great public importance" and in the original briefs filed in the appeal before the Second District Court of Appeal, have previously contended that there

Petitioners' contend that *Lake Worth Broadcasting Corporation v. Hispanic Broadcasting Inc.*, 495 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986) and *National Surety Co. v. Willys-Overland*, 138 So. 24 (Fla. 1931) are in direct and express conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal's decision. However, in both cases the trial court, as a condition of the temporary injunction, required the party to post a bond. Thus, each action awarding damages was founded upon an injunction bond.

(T)

existed <u>no case</u> directly on point or in support of their position, in direct contrast with their assertions in this appeal in which they now assert a conflict exists. In its Answer Brief filed in the Second District Court of Appeal, PROVIDENT stated as follows:

Although <u>Wall</u>, <u>Cozart</u>, and <u>SeaEscape</u> are instructive, there do not appear to be anv cases in Florida specifically on point. . . . Neither *Parker Tampa Two* or any of the cases cited by Treasure Island speak to the crucial issue in this case. None of Treasure Island's cases even involve a municipality seeking an injunction, much less a decision by the Court to relieve a municipality of the requirement of posting an injunction bond. (emphasis added).

In **BELAIR's** Answer Brief filed in the Second District Court of Appeal, **BELAIR** contended as follows:

Not finding any case law in Florida to support its position, the Plaintiff looks to cases from other jurisdiction (sic). But again, in all but one of the cases cited, the Plaintiff is not a municipality, the state or agency of **the** state.

In any event, regardless of which face **they** now choose to show, TREASURE ISLAND disputes that it is well-settled that a party who has been enjoined has **the** right to recover <u>all</u> damages from the party seeking an injunction, without limitation. Historically, damages <u>were</u> not recoverable for an injunction which has been vacated on <u>appeal.</u>² Thus, statutes have been

² In *Fisher v. Parkview Properties, Inc.*, 859 P.2d 77, 82 (Wash. App. 1993), amended in part, reconsideration denied in part, Fisher v. Parkview Properties, 1993 Wash. App. LEXIS 419 (Wash. App. Nov. 22, 1993), the court stated the rule as follows:

Generally, common law liability in tort does not result from suing out an injunction, unless the claimant proves the elements of malicious prosecution. . . . The underlying philosophy "is that an error in granting an injunction is an error of the court, for which there is no recovery in damages unless it is sufficiently intentional to be the basis for a suit for malicious prosecution." (emphasis added)

Additionally, in *Yonkers v. Federal Sugar Ref. Co.*, 221 N.Y. 206, 208-09, 116 N.E. 998 (N.Y. **1917)**, Justice Cardozo stated the common law rule as follows:

enacted providing for <u>injunction bonds</u> which are "generally conditioned for the payment of such damages as the party enjoined may incur." *Injunction Bond - Damages*, **95** ALR 2d 1191 (1964). In the absence of a statute, the common law would control and would mandate that no damages are recoverable for an injunction which has been vacated on appeal.

In **Parker Tampa Two v. Somerset Development Corporation, 544 So.** 2d 1018 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that "[i]n Florida, injunction bonds are addressed by Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.610 and section 60.07, Florida Statutes (1987). "Similarly, in **Hathcock v. Hathcock**, 533 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), **review denied**, 542 So.2d 1333 (Fla. 1989), the court held that the <u>only</u> statutory basis for damages as a result of a wrongful injunction is section 60.07, Fla. Stat. Finally, in **Shea v. Central Diagnostic Services, Inc., 552 So.** 2d 344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), the court held that pursuant to section 60.07, Fla. Stat., the defendant must look to the injunction bond as the <u>sole</u> source of recovery for any damages resulting from the wrongful issue of an injunction.

Thus, the only arguable statute which would authorize damages as a result of a wrongful injunction is section 60.07, Fla. Stat. However, Section 60.07, Fla. Stat., only authorizes damages as a result of a wrongful injunction if and only if an injunction bond has been posted. There is not even one case in the history of Florida jurisprudence which holds that a party is

There was no liability at common law for damages resulting from an injunction erroneously granted unless the case was one of malicious prosecution. . . . Sometimes the chancellor made his order conditional upon the plaintiff's undertaking to assume the damages. But without such a condition the defendant had no remedy against the honest and cautious suitor.

See also Truk Away of Rhode Island v. Macera Bros. of Cranston, Inc., 643 A.2d 811, 816-817 (R.I. 1993).

entitled to wrongful injunction damages when no bond has been issued. Again the reason is quite obvious. If there is no bond, then there is no statutory remedy for damages, *i.e.*, section 60.07 does not apply, Thus, the common law would apply and damages would not be recoverable. ³

Rule 1.610, Fla. R. Civ. P., (which is patterned after Rule 65, Fed. R. Civ. P), allows the court to relieve the State or any of its agencies or municipalities of the requirement to post a bond keeping in mind "due regard for the public interest", *i.e.*, there may be times when the "public interest" requires the State to post a bond. Because PROVIDENT and **BELAIR** claim damages here, they should have appealed the trial court's finding that no bond was required. Of course they did **not**. Without a bond, there can be no action under section 60.07, Fla. Stat.

There are only two instances when a bond may not be required under Rule 1.610(b): (1) when an injunction is issued on the pleading of a municipality or the state or any officer,

³ Petitioners never appealed the failure of the trial court to require a bond. Regardless of the reason why no bond was required, Petitioners simply failed to argue on appeal of the temporary injunction or appeal of the permanent injunction the effect of the absence of a bond on their ability to collect damages. Only now, after at least three separate and distinct appellate opportunities, do they ask this Court to relieve them of their errors in failing to request any court below to review the trial court's decision not to require a bond,

⁴ PROVIDENT contends that City of St. Petersburg v. Wall, 475 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 1985), supports its entitlement to damages. In Wall, the Court specifically excused the municipality from the requirement of posting a supersedeas bond but specifically allowed appellees to seek "recovery of damages and costs resulting from anv stav." Thus, the court recognized and specifically permitted "appellees to seek damages resulting from the stay." In addition, one familiar with the differences between an injunction bond, as in this case, and a supersedeas bond, as in Wall, cannot seriously argue that the two are synonymous. In any event, in Wall the court specifically held that: "Where, as here, there has been no showing of bad faith, a city should not be held liable for litigating a case which it subsequently loses." Id. at 663. Similarly, where, as here, there has been no showing of bad faith, the City of Treasure Island should not be held liable for litigating a case which it subsequently loses when no bond has been imposed.

agency, or political subdivision . . . having due regard for the public interest, and (2) when an injunction is issued to prevent physical injury or abuse. The intent of the municipality exception in Rule 1.610(b), Fla. R. Civ. P., was clearly explained in **Yonkers v. Federal Sugar Ref. Co.**, 221 N.Y. 206, 209-212, 116 N.E. 998 (N.Y. 1917), wherein the court stated:

Special rules apply, however, to provisional remedies granted at the instance of municipal corporations. In such cases no security is required. . . ,

If some resident of Yonkers had brought this suit, there would have been a prescribed maximum of risk. The plain mu-nose of the statute was, not to imnose upon municipal cornorations an added burden, but to give them a special privilege. The privilege is an illusory one if this order is to be affirmed. If the defendant's position is upheld, a municipal corporation, alone among litigants, may find itself involved in a crushing and indeterminate liability because of the error of a court in holding that it was entitled to relief. (emphasis added).

Florida courts have consistently followed *Parker Tampa Two* to limit damages for wrongfully obtaining an injunction to the amount of the injunction bond. *Tabsch v. Nojaim, 548*So. 2d 851, 853 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) ("The Florida Supreme Court has held that damages for the improper obtaining of an injunction are limited to the amount of the injunction bond"); *Shea v. Central Diagnostic Services, Inc., 552* So. 2d 344, 346 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) ("The defendant must look to the injunction bond as the <u>sole</u> source of recovery of any damages resulting from the wrongful issuance of the injunction") (emphasis added); *Multicredit, Inc. v. Ecoban Capital Ltd., 555* So. 2d 1249, 1250 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) ("Damages for the improvident issuance of an injunction are limited to the amount of the injunction bond"); *Longshore Lakes Joint Venture* v. *Mundy, 616* So. 2d 1047 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

In **Ross v. Champion Computer** Corp., 582 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 4th DCA **1991)**, the trial court entered a temporary injunction without requiring the moving party to post a bond. The court held:

Parker stands for the proposition that if any damages incur to the party against whom an injunction is issued, where such injunction is later determined to have been wrongfully issued, the damages recoverable are limited to the amount of the bond, if any, required upon theirssumance of the injunction. c a s e, if it is later determined, upon a full hearing and the presentation of further evidence, that Champion's injunction was wrongfully obtained, appellant would not be able to collect any damages. as there was no bond required.

Id. at 153. (emphasis added).

Finally, in *Doyle v. City* **of** *Sandpoint*, 112 P. 204 (Idaho 1910), the Idaho Supreme Court decided the <u>identical</u> issue presented herein and held that in absence of a bond, even when a bond requirement has been excused for a municipality, damages are not recoverable. The Court stated:

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